## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 05-1873

Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL RIVERA,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0754773 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

NEAL DUPREE CCRC-South 101 NE 3rd Ave., Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### INTRODUCTION

On January 30, 1986, at about 6:15 PM, eleven year old

Staci Jazvac set off from her home for a nearby strip mall to
get paper at a store (R. 702-03). She was last seen by a store
clerk at "[a]bout 6:30, 7 o'clock" (R. 797). According to the
State's theory of the case, Michael Rivera, while using a blue
van owned by his friend Mark Peters, abducted Staci as she
walked home following her purchase of paper, and that he killed
her in the blue van and dumped her body in an empty field where
it was found on February 14, 1986. When discovered, her body
was clad in jeans, a white nylon jacket and a white top (R. 89798, 913).

During the trial, the State focused on linking Staci to the blue van and arguing that based upon his various statements that Mr. Rivera was in possession of the blue van on the evening of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In making these arguments, the State relied upon an obscene phone call that a sexually-troubled Mr. Rivera made on February 7<sup>th</sup> to Starr Peck in which he claimed that his name was "Tony" and that he had grabbed Staci, put her in the blue van, and dumped her body in Lake Okeechobee (R. 1087-90).

The defense argued that the details in the obscene phone call that Starr Pack received from "Tony" (Michael Rivera's alter ego) did not match the facts of the case - only the information that was common knowledge from the newspaper coverage (R. 1831-34). The defense argued that a troubled Michael Rivera made statements based on "fantasy" (R. 1837). "Tony" made obscene phone calls and made outrageous claims to get attention (R. 1839-40). This was not unlike recent events in the nationally known Jon Benet Ramsey case.

January 30, 1986. In this regard in his opening statement, the prosecutor explained:

They also checked Mark Peters' van, and you'll hear from Howard Seiden, who is with the Crime Lab, and he's an expert in hair examination.

He'll tell you he found a hair in Mark Peter's van, a long hair, I think it was like six or seven inches, and he compared that with the known hair of Staci Jazvac and that they are similar.

He will not come in and say they are exactly the same and they are Staci's. You can't do that in hair. It's not like fingerprints. He'll say it is similar to Staci Jazvac's hair in the van.

 $(R. 715).^2$  The prosecutor also noted in his opening that there would be evidence showing that a fingerprint found in the van "is Michael Rivera's  $(R. 716).^3$ 

What's important about Detective Edel is that he did some vacuuming for the van. He did some vacuuming and he told you where he did vacuuming.

He did vacuuming where? In back of this van. As a result what does he find? He finds hair.

Now they have the standards of Staci. So he sends those standards to Howard Seiden. You heard Howard Seiden. It just so happens that hair was consistent with Staci's. He can't say and he didn't say it's a positive identification, but he says it's consistent with Staci Jazvac's hair standard.

(R. 1793). In his rebuttal closing argument to the jury, the prosecutor again argues: "And it just so happens that a hair similar to Staci's is found in the van"(R. 1866).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$ Similarly in his initial closing, the prosecutor argued:

However, DNA testing conducted in 2003 has now conclusively established that Staci was not the source of the hair found in Mark Peters' van.<sup>4</sup> Thus, the slender reed relied upon by the prosecutor to repeatedly link Staci to the blue van has been destroyed.<sup>5</sup>

In addition to the startling DNA results, Mr. Rivera's collateral counsel discovered in mid-2002 that the State had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The State also presented the testimony of a jailhouse informant, Frank Zuccarello, who claimed Mr. Rivera made statements acknowledging that "he was riding around looking for a young girl" when he spotted Staci (R. 1422).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>When Mr. Rivera requested DNA testing of the hair from the blue van, the State did in fact "agree to the DNA testing, we did acknowledge its relevancy." (3PC-R., "Supplemental Transcript," 109). However after the results came back totally in Mr. Rivera's favor, the State argued the results did not warrant relief, nor even evidentiary development. According to the State, the DNA testing that it agreed to was merely a waste of time and money.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>At Mr. Rivera's trial, his lawyer in his closing asked: "But where is Mark Peters?" (R. 1841). The State did not call Peters as a witness or introduce any statements from him regarding the blue van.

In Mr. Rivera's first Rule 3.850 proceedings, his collateral counsel had located Mr. Peters and presented his testimony. Mr. Peters indicated that on the evening of January 30, 1986, Rivera picked him up at work between 5 and 6 PM. Peters then drove Mr. Rivera home and reached his own home by 7 PM. Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 482 (Fla. 1998). Thus, by 6 PM, Peters was in possession of his van and remained so thereafter. After considering this testimony on appeal from the denial of collateral relief, this Court found that Mr. Rivera had not shown sufficient prejudice to warrant a new trial. However, in conjunction with the DNA results, the significance of Peters' testimony is enhanced.

withheld a written plea agreement that the State had with Frank Zuccarello, and which Zuccarello had denied. According to the undisclosed written plea offer with Zuccarello:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Zuccarello appeared at Mr. Rivera's trial pursuant to a State issued subpoena (R. 1402). He testified that he first told law enforcement that Mr. Rivera had made a statement simply because he thought what Mr. Rivera "did was a sick act" (R. 1406). On cross, Zuccarello testified the State had "not made any deals with you regarding [his] testimony" (R. 1410).

III. In return for the considerations shown above, the defendant will continue to cooperate with: Florida Department of Law Enforcement (lead agant: Steve Emerson); Broward Sheriff's Office (detectives Presley, Argentine, Sgt. Carney); Ft. Lauderdale Police Department (detective Potts); ASA's Lazarus and Pyers, and their investigators; and other law enforcement offices.

The defendant will, in his cooperation, be giving statements, which will be tested by polygraph as to their veracity; the defendant will further agree to testify at all proceedings in which he is subpoenaed and the defendant will testify honestly.

(3PC-R., "Supplemental Record," 63)(emphasis added).

This plea offer not only constituted undisclosed impeachment evidence within the meaning of <u>Brady</u>, it also demonstrated that the State at the time of trial did not correct Zuccarello's false testimony denying the existence of an agreement obligating him "to testify at all proceedings in which he is subpoenaed" and that the State presented false testimony and presented false argument during Mr. Rivera' prior collateral proceedings.

At a post-conviction evidentiary hearing in 1995 on Mr. Rivera's claim that the State had withheld <u>Brady</u> evidence, the State called Mr. Rivera's trial prosecutor, Kelly Hancock, to testify. During the direct examination of Mr. Hancock by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>At the time of Zuccarello's plea agreement, Mr. Rivera was being prosecuted by "ASA Lazarus" and detective Argentine was the deputy that Zuccarello testified he contacted regarding Mr. Rivera (R. 1406).

Assistant State Attorney Susan Bailey, the following testimony was presented:

- Q. Okay. Mr. Hancock, I would like to ask you about the testimony of Frank Zuccarello on the witness stand. If you need to refresh your recollection, I'll be more than happy -
  - A. Okay.
- Q. But do you recall asking Frank Zuccarello in your direct examination if the state had made any promises to him whatsoever regarding his testimony on behalf of the state against Michael Rivera?
  - A. Absolutely, I asked him that question.
  - Q. And do you recall what his response was?
- A. He said that we had offered him nothing to testify.
- Q. Okay. In fact, did you offer Mr. Zuccarello any promises or anything in return for his testimony?
  - A. Offered him nothing.
- (PC-R. 686). During cross examination, Mr. Hancock testified:
  - Q. You never made him any promises?
  - A. I never made him any promises. In fact, he was - my recollection, he was more than willing to come and testify against Mr. Rivera.

\* \* \*

- Q. Are you aware of anyone else on the prosecutor's team or the police or involved with the state in Mr. Rivera's case promising these individuals anything?
- A. No, and I think I asked everyone that testified in court if they were promised anything when they when they testified, if we had promised them

anything, and my recollection is everyone said no, that the state had not promised them anything.

I cannot tell you with the detectives because I wasn't there. But my understanding from talking to the detectives was that they were not promised anything either.

Q. And no one on the prosecutor's team promised them anything?

No. I was on the prosecution's team, I mean, I was the one that tried the case, I don't recall that there was another prosecutor there to assist me. So, the answer's no, I didn't promise them anything.

(PC-R. 686, 694-95). In the State's closing memorandum, the State sought to have the <u>Brady/Giglio</u> claim denied upon the basis of Hancock's testimony; "Hancock testified that Zuccarello did not receive any deal for his testimony." State's Memorandum dated 6/1/95 at 11. And on the basis of Hancock's testimony and the representations made by the State that there was no deal for Zuccarello's testimony, Mr. Rivera's claim was denied.<sup>8</sup>

However, pursuant to an undisclosed plea agreement,
Zuccarello in return for a reduction in his criminal liability

The United States Supreme Court recently explained: "When police or prosecutors conceal significant exculpatory or impeaching material in the State's possession, it is ordinarily incumbent on the State to set the record straight." <u>Banks v. Dretke</u>, 124 S. Ct. 1256, 1263 (2004). Thus, a rule "declaring 'prosecutor may hide, defendant must seek,' is not tenable in a system constitutionally bound to accord defendants due process." <u>Id</u>. at 1275.

agreed "to testify at all proceedings in which he is subpoenaed" (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record," 63).9

Despite the new DNA evidence refuting the only physical evidence offered by the State to link Staci Jazvac to the blue van, and despite the new evidence showing that the State not only failed to disclose favorable evidence to the defense, but also showing that the State presented uncorrected false testimony at Mr. Rivera's trial and at his prior collateral proceedings, the circuit court summarily denied Mr. Rivera's successive motion to vacate his conviction and sentence of death. In refusing to conduct an evidentiary hearing in light of the significant new evidence, the circuit court erred.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 6, 1986, Mr. Rivera was charged by indictment in the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit Court with first degree murder (R. 2164). Mr. Rivera was found guilty on April 16, 1987, and on April 17, 1987, the jury recommended a death

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Additional newly discovered evidence was pled in the Rule 3.850 motion as warranting post-conviction relief. This new evidence included the involvement of Detectives Scheff and Ambile in the case of Frank Lee Smith wherein they claimed that he made incriminating admissions to them, and statements made by the trial judge in a newspaper article acknowledging his difficulty in overcoming his prejudice against Mr. Rivera during the trial. This evidence also warranted evidentiary development as explained herein and must be evaluated cumulatively with the particularly startling new evidence discussed in this introduction.

sentence (R. 2296, 2307). On May 1, 1987, the trial court imposed a death sentence (R. 2308-13). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Rivera's conviction and sentence of death, while overturning the finding of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance. Rivera v. State, 561 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 1990).

On October 31, 1991, Mr. Rivera filed a Rule 3.850 motion, along with a motion to disqualify the trial court judge (PC-R. 739-49). Mr. Rivera subsequently filed two additional motions to disqualify the judge (PC-R. 1024-40, 1604-18). The disqualification motions were all denied (PC-R. 783, 1143).

The circuit court ordered a limited evidentiary hearing, summarily denying most of the claims for relief (1PC-R. 1205-06). After the evidentiary hearing in 1995, the court denied all relief (1PC-R. 1717-21). On appeal, this Court reversed the summary denial of the penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim, but affirmed the denial of relief on all other claims. Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1998).

On remand, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on April 26-28, 2001. Following the hearing, the circuit court denied relief, and Mr. Rivera again appealed the denial. On September 11, 2003, this Court affirmed the denial

of Mr. Rivera's penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Rivera v. State, 859 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 2003).

Meanwhile, on September 29, 1999, Mr. Rivera had filed a second Rule 3.850 motion in circuit court based upon previously undisclosed information. He filed an amendment to the Rule 3.850 motion on September 27, 2001, in light of the discovery of additional information that the State had previously failed to disclose. When denying relief on the penalty phase ineffective assistance claim, the circuit court failed to rule on the second Rule 3.850 or its amendment. On July 22, 2002, while Mr. Rivera's appeal of the denial of his penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim was pending, this Court relinquished jurisdiction to the circuit court so that it could consider Mr. Rivera's second Rule 3.850 motion and its amendment.

During the ensuing proceedings, additional public records were disclosed, and DNA testing of evidence was ordered and conducted. The circuit court granted Mr. Rivera leave to file one new amendment of his Rule 3.850 motion containing all of the new information disclosed and/or discovered in the course of the proceedings following this Court's remand. The amended motion was filed on January 20, 2004, and it included the results of the DNA testing (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record," 1-

58). The State filed a response to the motion on June 3, 2004 (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record," 117-40). The circuit court held a Huff hearing on July 27, 2004 (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record Transcript," 87-125). On May 10, 2005, the circuit court issued an order denying an evidentiary hearing and denying relief (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record," 171-80). Mr. Rivera moved for rehearing (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record," 181-90), which the circuit court denied on August 30, 2005 (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record Vol 2," 224). Mr. Rivera timely filed a notice of appeal (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record," 198-99). This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

# A. THE NEW AND PREVIOUSLY UNDISCLOSED FACTS PRESENTED IN THE SECOND RULE 3.850 MOTION.

At Mr. Rivera's trial, the State presented evidence that a hair found in the van in which the State contended the crime occurred was consistent with the victim's hair (R. 1293, 1305). The State told the jury about this hair in opening statement: "They found a hair in Mark Peter's van, a long hair, I think it was like six or eight inches, and he compared that with the known hair of Staci Jazvac and that they are similar" (R. 1305). The State also relied upon the testimony about the hair in its closing argument (R. 1793). DNA testing conducted in 2003 has now conclusively established that this hair did not

come from the victim (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record Transcript," 39-41, 67).

In investigating the case, sheriff's deputies collected dark hairs found on the victim's white knit top and left shoe. In an affidavit dated February 24, 1986, Detective Amabile discussed these hairs to support issuance of a search warrant to obtain hair from Mr. Rivera. DNA testing conducted in 2003 on eight of these hairs has established that Mr. Rivera is definitely not the source of seven of these hairs, while the analysis of the eighth hair was inconclusive (3PC-R., "Supplemental Record Vol 1, Etc.," 42-44).

At trial, the State called jailhouse informant Frank Zuccarello, who testified that Mr. Rivera confessed to the murder of the victim, Staci Jazvac, and to the prior assault of another girl, Jennifer Goetz (R. 1402-06). Zuccarello testified that he had recently pled guilty to twenty-three felonies in Broward and Dade Counties, receiving a seven-year sentence in Broward and a five-year sentence in Dade (R. 1409, 1410, 1419). Zuccarello categorically denied that his guilty pleas involved any quid pro quo regarding his testimony in Mr. Rivera's case-no promises, no deals (R. 1406, 1410, 1420). Zuccarello did admit that he had filed a motion to mitigate his sentence on his current conviction, but testified that his testimony in Mr.

Rivera's case would have no bearing on whether or not his sentence would be reduced (R. 1419).

In 1995, Mr. Rivera amended his first Rule 3.850 motion to include a Claim XXI, which pled:

- 6. At trial, one of the State's key witnesses was Frank Zuccarello, a professional informant. Mr. Zuccarello testified many times previously in exchange for lenient or favorable treatment.
- 7. Despite Mr. Zuccarello's history of making deals with the State, he testified that the State had made no promises to him and there was no deal (R. 1407, 1410).
- 8. However, the State had written several letters in an effort to secure lenient treatment for Mr. Zuccarello. (See Appendix B). Further, the State made no attempt to correct Mr. Zuccarello's apparently misleading testimony.

(2PC-R. 1553). At a hearing on that motion, Kelly Hancock, the trial prosecutor, testified that neither he nor any members of the prosecution team had made Zuccarello any promises or offered him anything in exchange for his testimony in Mr. Rivera's case (1PC-R. 686, 694-95). The State's closing memorandum urged that Mr. Rivera's claim be denied based upon Hancock's testimony: "Hancock testified that Zuccarello did not receive any deal for his testimony" (State's Memorandum dated 6/1/95 at 11).

In the most recent Rule 3.850 proceedings, Mr.

Rivera's counsel learned that Zuccarello received a deal from the State, a deal that the State did not disclose at trial or during the initial post-conviction proceedings. When Mr.

Zuccarello pled to the numerous pending charges against him on June 12, 1986, it was pursuant to an undisclosed plea offer from the Broward County State Attorney's Office. The "Plea Offer: Frank Zuccarello" provided:

I. The Defendant will enter an [sic] plea to the following charges:

Case 85-4911CF, Aggravated Assault, violation of Community Control

Case 86-3288CF, Kidnapping while Armed (Life Felony), one count; Burglary while Armed (First Degree PBL Felony), one count; Armed Robbery (First Degree BPL Felony), three Counts.

Case 86-3602CF, Forgery (Third Degree Felony),
 two

counts; the two Misdemeanor Theft charges will be dropped.

Case 86-3841CF, Possession of Cocaine (Third Degree Felony), one count.

The pleas will be with a CAP, or maximum period of incarceration of Fifteen (15) Years in prison. The State does reserve the right to request a period of PROBATION to run consecutive to the incarceration; there will be a CAP, or maximum period of probation requested, of TEN (10) years.

- II. The Broward County cases, as outlined above, will run CONCURRENT with the charge(s) the defendant will be pleading to in Dade County.
- III. In return for the considerations show above, the defendant will continue to cooperate with: Florida Department of Law Enforcement (lead agant: Steve Emerson); Broward Sheriff's Office (detectives Presley, Argentine, Sgt. Carney); Ft. Lauderdale Police Department (detective Potts); ASA's Lazarus and Pyers, and their investigators; and other law enforcement offices.

The defendant will, in his cooperation, be giving statements, which will be tested by polygraph as to

their veracity; the defendant will further agree to testify at all proceedings in which he is subpoenaed and the defendant will testify honestly.

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