IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1873

MICHAEL RIVERA

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

APPELLEE

...........

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA, (CRIMINAL DIVISION)

.....

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM. Attorney General Tallahassee, FL

Celia A. Terenzio Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.: 0656879 1515 N. Flagler Dr.; Ste. 900 West Palm Beach, FL 33401 Telephone (561) 837-5000 Facsimile (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

¹³ Appellee will rely on the argument and facts presented in the previous issue in response to this specific information.

motion for postconviction relief in 1994-1995. (ROA 174). Consequently, the claim either under <u>Strickland</u> or <u>Brady</u> was successive and dismissal was proper. <u>See Bolender v. State</u>, 658 So. 2d 82, 85 (Fla. 1995)(finding that state witness' status as an informant and information regarding plea deal with the state could have been discovered before filing of successive motion).

In any event, on the merits, appellant's claims must also fail for the following reasons. Zuccarello testified in this case in April of 1987. He testified in the Cohen case in October of 1989. Obviously any "evidence" in support of the claim that Zuccarello testified falsely at the Cohen murder trial was not in existence at the time of Rivera's trial. Consequently the state cannot intentionally withhold nor could defense counsel ever have uncovered "evidence" related to his testimony in the Cohen case. Summary denial was proper. Wright v. State, 857 SO. 2d 861, 871 (Fla. 2003)(rejecting claim of newly discovered evidence because reports and memorandum identified as newly discovered were not generated until three years after trial, "we have said that newly discovered evidence, by its very nature, is evidence that existed but was unknown at the time of the prior proceedings.")

Additionally, none of the information would have been admissible at Rivera's trial. The result of any polygraph examination would have been prohibited as such information would

be admissible at trial because it is inadmissible absent consent of both parties. <u>See Walsh v. State</u>, 418 So. 2d 1000, 1002 (Fla. 1982); <u>Pendelton v. State</u>, 348 So. 2d 1206 (4th DCA 1977).

Additionally, the opinions of others presented in newspaper articles are not discoverable or admissible evidence that would support any claim under <u>Brady</u> or <u>Strickland</u>. <u>Opinions</u> regarding the veracity of someone's testimony or the admissibility of someone's confessions¹⁴ are not admissible evidence nor is it even useful.¹⁵ It is nothing more than long after the fact hearsay which does not come within any hearsay exception. <u>See Guidinas v. State</u>,693 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1997)(finding that <u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u> is limited to statements against penal interest, and therefore contents of interviews with other potential suspects is inadmissible hearsay); <u>Crump v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 963, 969 (Fla. 1993(finding hearsay properly excluded even in capital case where statement did not fall within

¹⁴ A motion to suppress Rivera's confession was held. The state presented three witnesses who testified that Rivera was given his <u>Miranda</u> warnings on five separate occasions. Rivera also signed a consent form to search his residence and a consent to take a polygraph. Rivera did not present any evidence at the hearing. (*Rivera I* at 7-91).

¹⁵ In a separate claim, appellant argues that the trial court should have allowed him to supplement the motion with a transcript from a federal evidentiary hearing in the Cohen case. The trial court's denial of that request was proper. As noted above, Zuccarello's testimony in the Cohen case did not exist at the time of this trial and therefore it could not have been presented. <u>Wright v. State</u>, 857 So. 2d 861,871 (Fla. 2003). Further, opinions about Zuccarello's veracity are not admissible evidence that could have produced an acquittal at trial.

recognized exception). Therefore even if counsel could have uncovered this information it would not have been useful. Summary denial was warranted.

Additionally, any claim regarding Lt. Rios' opinions is something that could have been presented in the first motion for postconviction relief. Therefore summary denial was again warranted. Rios was listed as a state witness before trial, and was deposed by trial counsel on January 15, 1987. (ROA 203, 209-211). Additionally, Rivera subpoenaed Rios for the public records hearing in 1994 and then ultimately excused from his subpoena. (*Rivera II* at ROA 178). Appellant's claim that these newspaper articles are a basis for an evidentiary hearing is frivolous.

Finally, the trial court determined that even if admissible, any further impeachment of Zuccarello regarding his informant status would not have changed the outcome of this case either under <u>Brady</u> or under <u>Strickland</u>. <u>State v. Reichmann</u>, 777 So.2d. 342, 365 (Fla. 2000)(rejecting claim that withheld evidence was material, "[a]s far as the waiter's statements made to the police that Riechmann and Kischnick were in a festive mood the night of the murder, this evidence does not establish a Brady claim because it serves as cumulative evidence.")

ISSUE IV

THE RESULTS OF RIVERA'S DNA TESTING DOES NOT ENTITLE HIM TO A NEW TRIAL

Following no objection by the state and with the trial court's permission, Appellant conducted DNA testing on a hair that had been introduced into evidence. The hair had been found in the van Rivera used to transport the victim Staci Jazvac. State witness Howard Seiden testified that the hair <u>could</u> have belonged to Staci. (ROA 1305). DNA testing now conclusively reveals that the one strand of hair found was not that of the victim. This evidence if presented at trial would have resulted in an acquittal. **Initial brief at 93.**

The trial court denied the claim finding that the jury was never told that the hair was in fact that of Staci Jazvac and there was overwhelming evidence of Rivera's guilt. (ROA 177-180). Appellant claims that the trial court erred in denying him a new trial under <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). Rivera is incorrect.

First and foremost, the jury was <u>never</u> told that the hair was that of Staci's. In fact the jury was well aware of the limited value of this evidence. Seiden stated on direct examination:

A. It's my scientific opinion that the hair found from the bed of the van <u>could be</u> concluded as being a source from the victim,

item number five, which was the head hair sample of the victim. Q. And when you say could be, is there ever a positive identification in reference to hair? A. <u>With respect to hairs, I don't think of</u> it as a fingerprint. It's not unique, so it's not to the exclusion of everyone else.

Hairs do not contain enough microscopic characteristics to be able to exclude everyone else on a hair match. Q. But it was your determination it could have originated from the source of Staci Jazvac.

A. Oh, certainly. Yes sir.

(Rivera I at 1305). On cross examination, the jury was again

told of the very limited value of hair analysis/comparison:

Q. Now these hairs that you've found, hairs don't possess a sufficient number of unique individual microscopic characteristics to be positively identified as having originated from the particular person, to the exclusion of all others; isn't that correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And isn't true that when you prepare a report on hair analysis, you specifically put that paragraph in all your reports? A. Yes, sir. In fact, where I was trained with the FBI in a training school, they in fact recommended putting that on there. Q. Now you agree that no-that there isn't the same fingerprint? You can't find the same fingerprint on different people; right? A. Well, I am not an expert in fingerprints, but from my layperson's knowledge in that and what I know from common knowledge, finger prints are unique. Q. As far as hair is you can find the same similar characteristics on different people; right?

A. <u>I would imagine if you were to go out</u> and make a comparison on a hair, there's a good chance that the next guy you pick down

| the | stı | reet | might | | have | th | е | same | simi | lar |
|------|------|--------|-------|-----|-------|-----|-----|------|------|-----|
| char | acte | eristi | CS | or | you | mig | ght | have | to | go |
| thro | ugh | the | who | ole | Sta | te | of | Flor | ida | or |
| Brow | ard | Count | y to | fi | nd it | • | | | | |

(ROA 1313-1314). And during the state's closing argument the prosecutor reminded the jury that the there was no positive identification but the hair was consistent. (ROA 1793, 1866). At no time was the jury told that this evidence was conclusive or that it was full proof.

Second, the evidence of Rivera's quilt was overwhelming, consequently any error in telling the jury that a hair "was consistent" with that of the victim was harmless beyond a The un-assailed evidence was as follows. reasonable doubt. Michael Rivera, consistently admitted to five separate people that he killed Staci Jazvac. On February 7, 1986, before Staci's body was found, he called Star Peck, a former work colleague. Rivera had been calling Peck since September of 1985. He admitted to her that he abducted and killed Staci. He grabbed her from behind as she was getting off her bike and he dragged her into a van. (Rivera I at 1086-1091).9 In all his previous calls to her he never mentioned killing anyone. His demeanor this time was different than any other call. (Rivera I at 1083-1107).

⁹ In previous calls, he has admitted to Star that he wears women's clothing and pantyhose. (*Rivera I* at 1086, 1097).

On that same night, Rivera called Angela Green. She too had received calls from Rivera in the past. This time the call was different. (*Rivera I* at 1246). He told Angela that he "had Staci" and that she was gone and would never be found. He stated that he was wearing his pantyhose during the attack. (*Rivera I* at 1242-1247). Years later when confronted with the fact that he admitted this crime to both Peck and Green, Rivera attempted to explain away his admissions by saying that they were sexual fantasies.¹¹

While in jail, Rivera confessed to three different inmates that he killed Staci Jazvac; Frank Zuccarello (*Rivera I* at 1402-1422); William Moyer (*Rivera I* at 1474-1499); and Peter Salerno (*Rivera I* at 1574-1580). Rivera admitted to attacking Jennifer Goetz, but that someone came and scared him away. Rivera also told one of the inmates that he made a big mistake in trusting Star Peck. (*Rivera I* at 1402-1408).

During his discussions with the police, Rivera made various incriminating statements. For instance when Rivera was taken

¹¹ During litigation of his initial postconviction motion, Rivera attempted to present evidence to establish that his admissions to Peck and Green were in fact fantasy. However his own expert witness Dr. Berlin could not make that assessment. Berlin candidly stated that he could not say that Rivera's statements to others regarding the murder of Staci Jazvac were simply fantasy. They could have been actual admissions. (*Rivera II* at 398, 411). Berlin admitted that if Rivera in fact had not killed Staci Jazvac, he was certainly headed in that direction. (*Rivera II* at 411).

into custody and brought to the sheriff's office for questioning, he stated, "If I talk to you guys, I'll spend the next twenty years in jail." (*Rivera I* at 1011-1012). Rivera told Detective Scheff that he fantasized about murdering a young girl. (*Rivera I* at 1015). Rivera also admitted to Scheff that he borrowed a friend's van and would drive around neighborhoods looking for young girls, and that he would render them unconscious. (*Rivera I* at 1017-1019). Scheff asked Rivera where they would find Jazvac's body and he said it was his belief that it would be found locally. (*Rivera I* at 1020). Staci's body was found the next day in Coral Springs. (*Rivera I* at 1026).

Once arrested Rivera was turned over to Detective Eastwood for questioning. He told Eastwood that he was home alone at the time of Staci's abduction. (*Rivera I* at 1327). Rivera admitted to Eastwood that he liked to expose himself to young girls and he did so in the Coral Springs area numerous times. Coral Springs was a desirable location because there was less of a chance of getting caught. (*Rivera I* at 1328-1329). Rivera told Eastwood that he fantasized about raping young girls. (*Rivera I* at 1330). When asked if there was anything special about any of the girls that he had exposed himself to, he said that about two weeks earlier, one of the girls was pushing a bike. (*Rivera I* at 1330-1331). Rivera was then given his Miranda warnings.

(*Rivera I* at 1331). He admitted to doing terrible things when he got into a vehicle. Rivera broke down and stated, "Tom, I can't stop myself. I can't control myself. Either kill me or put me in jail, because I'm going to keep doing what I'm doing if you don't stop me." (*Rivera I* at 1332-1333). Eastwood told Rivera that he thought Rivera had killed Staci, and he asked where he put the body. Instead of denying that he committed the crime, Rivera responded, "Tom, I can't tell you." I don't want to go to jail. They will kill me for what I have done." (*Rivera I* at 1333). Rivera continued crying and the interview was stopped. (*Rivera I* at 1337).

Rivera also spoke to Sgt. Carney. When asked where he was the night Staci disappeared, Rivera said that he was out with his brother all night. (Rivera I at 1263). He was then asked if he had ever met Staci Jazvac or if he had ever seen her. He responded that he had never seen her. (Rivera I at 1263). A short time later, Rivera was told that they had found Staci and it was possible to detect fingerprints on the body. They further stated that if his fingerprints were on the body it could mean only one thing. (*Rivera I* at 1264). Rivera responded that he thought the police did have fingerprints. There was a notable change in his demeanor when he was told about the possibility of fingerprints. (Rivera I at 1266). At that point he asks to see a photograph of Staci. Rivera then

states that he had seen her once before at a gas station in Lauderdale Lakes. When pressed again, he admits that he had seen her on one other occasion although he can't remember when. (*Rivera I* at 1264-1265).

In addition, to the multitude of incriminating statements, collateral crime evidence was also introduced. Jennifer Goetz testified that she was attacked on her way home form summer camp in July of 1985. She was grabbed from behind and pulled off the sidewalk. She was told to shut up or she would be killed. She was turned over on her stomach and she passed out. She woke up naked with a bag over her head. Her attacker was in his mid-twenties with dark curly hair. (*Rivera I* at 1453-1464).¹⁰

This evidence overwhelmingly establishes Rivera's guilt. The evidence demonstrates that Rivera lied on two occasions regarding his whereabouts on the night of Staci's disappearance. The evidence established that Rivera was within one block from where Staci's bike was found around the time she was abducted. When confronted with the possibility that his fingerprints could be detected on the body, he changes his earlier statement that he had never seen her to admitting that he had seen her on two separate occasions. Furthermore, specific details provided by

 $^{^{10}}$ Rivera was convicted of the attempted murder and kidnapping of Jennifer Goetz. <u>Rivera v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 140 (4th DCA 1989).

Rivera to different people are corroborated by the physical evidence. For instance, Rivera admitted that Staci was walking her bike when he abducted her. That is consistent with the evidence. Staci's bike was found in sugar sand, a substance that would make riding a bike impossible. There was pantyhose found at the crime scene. Rivera admitted to wearing pantyhose on many occasions, including the night he abducted Staci. The medical examiner testified that Staci had bruises on her head. Rivera admitted that he dragged her into the van. Rivera was in possession of a blue van at the critical time of Staci's disappearance. Rivera admitted that he used a van to abduct Staci. This overwhelming evidence clearly establishes that Seiden's testimony was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. Cf. Reed v. State, 875 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 2004)(noting with approval the trial court's finding that evidence which established the presence of hair that is consistent with the defendant's hat is less significant than evidence establishing a positive identification of the defendant's hat)(emphasis added). Summary denial of this claim was proper.

CLAIM V

RIVERA' CLAIM THAT JUDGE FERRIS WAS BIASED AGAINST HIM AT TRIAL AND DURING LITIGATION OF THE MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED

Rivera claims again that Judge Ferris exhibited bias against him as demonstrated by his two comments in a recent newspaper article. The comments were: "I had great confidence in the prosecutor"; "I wanted the defendant to get a fair trial at all costs, although my personal beliefs might not have been the same." Initial brief at 96-97.

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